ADEQ OPERATING AIR PERMIT

Pursuant to the Regulations of the Arkansas Operating Air Permit Program, Regulation No. 26:

Permit No.: 598-AOP-R4

Renewal #1

IS ISSUED TO:

BPB Gypsum, Inc.

Nashville, AR 71852

Howard County

AFIN: 31-00010

THIS PERMIT AUTHORIZES THE ABOVE REFERENCED PERMITTEE TO INSTALL, OPERATE, AND MAINTAIN THE EQUIPMENT AND EMISSION UNITS DESCRIBED IN THE PERMIT APPLICATION AND ON THE FOLLOWING PAGES. THIS PERMIT IS VALID BETWEEN:

June 29, 2005 AND June 28, 2010

IS SUBJECT TO ALL LIMITS AND CONDITIONS CONTAINED HEREIN.

Signed:	
	January 19, 2006
Mike Porta Interim Chief, Air Division	Date Modified

AFIN: 31-00010

Table of Contents

SECTION I: FACILITY INFORMATION	5
SECTION II: INTRODUCTION	6
SUMMARY OF PERMIT ACTIVITY	6
PROCESS DESCRIPTION	
REGULATIONS	
SECTION III: PERMIT HISTORY	16
SECTION IV: SPECIFIC CONDITIONS	18
PRIMARY CRUSHER AND PRIMARY SCREEN	18
SECONDARY CRUSHER AND SECONDARY SCREEN	
RAYMOND ROLLER MILL BAGHOUSES #1 THROUGH #6	
KETTLE CALCINERS #1, #2, AND #3 AND BAGHOUSES	
NORTH ESP AND KETTLE CALCINERS #4, #5, AND #6	
CLAUDIUS/PETER MILL & FLASH CALCINER BAGHOUSES #1 AND #2	
KETTLE BUELL BAGHOUSE AND CP MILL TRANSFER POINTS BAGHOUSE	
CP BUELL, EAST AND WEST MEZZANINE BAGHOUSES	
TUNNEL DRYERS #1 AND #2	
TAKE-OFF/END TRIM BAGHOUSES #1 AND #2	
RECUT BAGHOUSE	
RECYCLE BAGHOUSE	
GASOLINE STORAGE TANK	
FACILITY NON-POINT SOURCE EMISSIONS	49
SECTION V: COMPLIANCE PLAN AND SCHEDULE	52
SECTION VI: PLANT WIDE CONDITIONS	53
TITLE VI PROVISIONS	54
Permit Shield.	
SECTION VII: INSIGNIFICANT ACTIVITIES	
SECTION VIII: GENERAL PROVISIONS	58
APPENDIX A	
40 CFR PART 60, SUBPART OOO – STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR NONMETALLIC M. PLANTS	INERAL PROCESSING
APPENDIX B	
40 CFR PART 60, SUBPART UUU – STANDARDS OF PERFORMANCE FOR CALCINERS AND D	PRYERS IN MINERAL

INDUSTRIES

Facility: BPB Gypsum, Inc. Permit No.: 598-AOP-R4 AFIN: 31-00010

Table of Tables

Table 1 - List of Acronyms	4
Table 2 – Regulations	11
Table 3 – Emission Summary	11
Table 4 - Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Primary Crusher and Primary Screen	18
Table 5 - Non-Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Primary Crusher and Primary Screen	19
Table 6 – Primary Screen Visible Emissions Limit	
Table 7 - Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Secondary Crusher Building	22
Table 8 - Non-Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Secondary Crusher Building	22
Table 9 - Criteria Emission Limits for Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses #1 through #6	25
Table 10 -Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses #1-#6	26
Table 11 -Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses Visible Emission Limits	
Table 12 - Criteria Emission Limits for Kettles Calciners#1, #2, and #3	
Table 13 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Kettle Calciners #1, #2, and #3	29
Table 14 – Kettle Calciners #1, #2, and #3 Visible Emission Limits	29
Table 15 - Criteria Emission Limits for North ESP and Kettle Calciners #4, #5, and #6	31
Table 16 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for North ESP and Kettles Calciners #4, #5, and #6	32
Table 17 - North ESP and Kettle Calciners #4, #5, and #6 Visible Emission Limits	
Table 18 - Criteria Emission Limits for Claudius/Peter Mill & Flash Calciner Baghouses	
Table 19 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Claudius/Peter Mill & Flash Calciner Baghouses	
Table 20 – Criteria Emission Limits for Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points	36
Table 21 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points	s.36
Table 22 – Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points Visible Emission Limits	
Table 23 - Criteria Emission Rates for CP Buell, East and West Mezzanine Baghouses	
Table 24 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for CP Buell, East and West Mezzanine Baghouses	
Table 25 – Criteria Emission Limits for Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2	
Table 26 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2	
Table 27 – Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2 Visible Emission Limits	41
Table 28 – Criteria Emission Limits for Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2	42
Table 29 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2	
Table 30 – Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2 Visible Emission Limits	
Table 31 – Criteria Emission Limits for Recut Baghouse	44
Table 32 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Recut Baghouse	44
Table 33 – Opacity for Recut Baghouse Visible Emission Limit	
Table 34 – Criteria Emission Limits for Recycle Baghouse	
Table 35 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Recycle Baghouse	
Table 36 – Recycle Baghouse Visible Emission Limit	46
Table 37 - Criteria Emission Limits for Gasoline Storage Tank	
Table 38 – Facility Non-Point Source Emissions Summary Table	
Table 39 – Non-Point Source Criteria Emission Limits with Unpaved Roads	
Table 40 - Non-Point Source Non-Criteria Emission Limits with Unpaved Roads	
Table 41 – Criteria Emission Limits for Non-Point Sources with Paved Roads	
Table 42 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Non-Point Sources with Paved Roads	
Table 43 - Applicable Regulations	
Table 44 - Inapplicable Regulations	
Table 45 - Insignificant Activities	57

AFIN: 31-00010

Table 1 - List of Acronyms

A.C.A. Arkansas Code Annotated

AFIN ADEQ Facility Identification Number

CFR Code of Federal Regulations

CO Carbon Monoxide

HAP Hazardous Air Pollutant

lb/hr Pound per hour

MVAC Motor Vehicle Air Conditioner

No. Number

NO_x Nitrogen Oxide

PM Particulate matter

PM₁₀ Particulate matter smaller than ten microns

SNAP Significant New Alternatives Program (SNAP)

SO₂ Sulfur dioxide

SSM Startup, Shutdown, and Malfunction Plan

Tpy Ton per year

UTM Universal Transverse Mercator

VOC Volatile Organic Compound

AFIN: 31-00010

Section I: FACILITY INFORMATION

PERMITTEE: BPB Gypsum, Inc.

AFIN: 31-00010

PERMIT NUMBER: 598-AOP-R4

FACILITY ADDRESS: 794 State Highway 369 North

Nashville, AR 71852

MAILING ADDRESS: 794 State Highway 369 North

Nashville, AR 71852

COUNTY: Howard County

CONTACT POSITION: James Barnett, Environmental Manager

TELEPHONE NUMBER: 870-845-7171

REVIEWING ENGINEER: Charles Hurt

UTM Zone: 15

UTM North - South (Y): 3771.4

UTM East - West (X): 420.1

AFIN: 31-00010

Section II: INTRODUCTION

Summary of Permit Activity

BPB Gypsum, Inc. (BPB) owns and operates a gypsum wallboard manufacturing facility at 794 State Highway 369 North, Nashville, Arkansas and an open pit quarry located approximately 1.5 miles south-southeast of the manufacturing facility. BPB requested the permission for following modifications to its facility:

- 1. In-kind replacement of the Primary Crusher (SN-06), Primary Screen (SN-07), Secondary Crusher and its baghouse (SN-19), and associated conveyer belts and chutes;
- 2. Install a Secondary Screen (SN-21) and ten (10) baghouses at various transfer points; and
- 3. Permit sources, which were previously permitted in Facility Non-Point Sources (SN-37), to be included under SN-06, SN-07, SN-19, and SN-21.

The permitted emissions from the above modifications increased by 1.6 tpy of PM/PM₁₀.

BPB also requested to update the emission calculations for overburden removal, drilling at the mine site, and the transportation of rock on the haul roads. Past calculations used assumptions which resulted in potential to emit to be underestimated. BPB did not request to change any throughput limits or method of operation. Permitted PM and PM_{10} emissions increased by 27.1 tpy and 24.2 tpy, respectively.

Process Description

BPB mines, pulverizes and dries gypsum rock (CaSO4•2H2O) to produce landplaster. The landplaster is calcined, removing the chemically bound water to produce stucco (CaSO4•1/2 H2O). Stucco is the principal component in gypsum wallboard.

Mining Operations

BPD mines gypsum rock from an open pit quarry located approximately 1.5 miles South-Southwest of the manufacturing facility. Mining is limited to 1,860,000 tons of gypsum rock per twelve-month rolling period (TMRP). The gypsum ore lies in three dominant seams each separated by varying thicknesses of overburden.

Trucks move the ore over a partially unpaved haul road. BPB sprays the unpaved haul road regularly with water or Coherex (a dust abatement emulsion).

Ore Classification and Grinding

The gypsum ore is dumped at a covered staging area adjacent to the receiving pit (equipped with a water/foam sprayer). A screening gate ensures that all material used is less than 3 inches. A large jackhammer, mounted on a hydraulic boom, breaks the oversized ore that fails to pass through the screening gate. The minus 3" material then goes to a vibratory grizzly (300-ton per

AFIN: 31-00010

hour capacity), which classifies the gypsum. The oversize gypsum rock goes to the primary crusher then to belt conveyor C-2 and C-4.

The undersize rock goes to the primary screen. The screen rejects (minus 3/4 inch) go to the tailings pile via belt conveyors C-10a and C-10. Trucks then haul the tailings back to the mine site for disposal. The primary cut is put in the ore storage facility at a rate of 300 tons per hour via belt conveyor C-8, and conveyor C-4.

Crushed rock from the Ore Storage facility passes through a secondary crusher. The Secondary Crusher Baghouse (SN-19) collects dust from the operation. Rock from the secondary grinding circuit is then conveyed to one of six 400-ton bins or a CP Mill bin. The bins feed five Raymond Roller Mills (rated at 20 tph), one Raymond Roller Mill (rated at 50 tph), and a CP Mill (rate at 80 tph).

This Permit allows the use of a foam and moisture system (already installed) to reduce the fugitive dust emissions within the building.

Raymond Roller Mills and Flash Dryers

The process operates six Raymond Roller Mills; each equipped with a flash dryer. The Raymond Mill's purpose is to pulverize up to 150 ton per hour of gypsum rock and dry the millings to produce landplaster, the raw material used to manufacture stucco. The flash dryers use only quality pipeline natural gas as heating fuel. Raymond Roller Mills #1 thru #5 (SN-49 thru SN-53) are equipped with a 3.0 MMBtu/hr natural gas burner each. Raymond Roller Mill #6 (SN-38) is equipped with a 5.0 MMBtu/hr natural gas burner. The natural gas burners account for the non-PM pollutant emissions.

Calcining

Kettle Calciners

The manufacturing process converts the landplaster into stucco in continuous kettle calciners. Landplaster from the storage bin is fed to each calciner. The calciners, using natural gas as a fuel, indirectly heat and remove water in the landplaster producing stucco. The calciners exhaust their combustion gases through their combustion stacks (SN-22 to SN-27). The calcined stucco leaves the kettles by gravity into hot pits, where it begins cooling. Particulate emissions from the hot pits are controlled by baghouses (SN-46 to SN-48) and by an electrostatic precipitator.

A portion of the gases exhausted through stacks SN-22 through SN-27 is used to heat process water in a heat exchanger (SN-20). Hot stucco is conveyed pneumatically and by screw conveyor to the Buell System pit for further cooling and storage.

Claudius/Peter Mill and Flash Calciner (SN-39) - CP Mill

The manufacturing process also converts gypsum rock into stucco with the use of a Claudius/Peter (CP) Mill and Flash Calciner. The CP mill simultaneously grinds and calcines the gypsum rock into stucco, while avoiding the intermediate steps of storing and handling

AFIN: 31-00010

landplaster. The Flash Calciner portion of the CP Mill contacts the pulverized rock directly with the combustion gases of natural gas, which the calciner burns at a rate of 65 MMBTU/h.

The process transfers up to 80 ton per hour of gypsum rock from the CP Mill Rock Bin (3-05-015-09) to the CP Mill. The mill pulverizes the rock and contacts it with the combustion gases of the flash calciner to achieve the conversion into stucco. The gases carry the calcined stucco from the Mill to the Flash Calciner Baghouses #1 and #2. The two parallel baghouses separate the stucco from the gas stream and control particulate emissions related to the transfer of the stucco from the CP Mill to the conveyance system.

The exhaust of both baghouses is combined into a single stack (SN-39). SN-39 exhausts the combustion gases of the Flash Calciner as well as up to 12.5 ton per hour of water, released by the gypsum, as vapor. The Flash Calciner baghouses transfer up to 67.5 ton per hour of stucco to the Buell System pit using the transfer points conveyance system.

Buell System

The Buell System pit receives the stucco and cools it by forced ambient temperature air. The air further lifts the stucco to the Buell Cyclones #1 and #2. The two parallel cyclones separate most of the stucco from the lifting air stream, sending the collected material to a pneumatic conveyance system. The overhead vent of the cyclones sends the stucco particulate laden exhaust to the Buell Baghouse (SN-41).

The Buell baghouse also controls particulate emissions related to stucco conveyance by screw conveyors S-100-5, -6, -7, and bucket elevator B-300-1. Furthermore, the Buell baghouse controls particulate emissions related to the loading and unloading of the CP Mill and Calcine mill stucco storage bins.

The stucco separated by the cyclones is conveyed pneumatically to either the high capacity storage bins or directly to the line production storage bins. Both the CP Mill and Calcine Mill stucco storage bins have a capacity of 431 tons, and a throughput capacity of 80 ton per hour. These bins allow the process storage capacity for occasions when stucco is not delivered to the Buell System. The S-100-6 and –7 screw conveyors move the stucco to the bucket elevator, which in turn delivers the stucco to the pneumatic conveyance leading to the line production storage bins. The Line #1 and #2 storage bins each have a capacity of 100 tons and supply the wallboard production lines with stucco.

Wallboard Manufacturing

A mixture of stucco, additives and hot water are combined in a pin mixer to form slurry. The slurry is deposited between two continuous sheets of paper that pass through a wallboard forming equipment then to a forming conveyor belt. After the slurry sets, the wallboard is cut into sections by a rotating knife and then stacked for drying. The wallboard exiting the tunnel dryer is trimmed and the edges are taped prior to storage or shipping.

AFIN: 31-00010

Solid Additives

Stucco from the 100 ton production line feed bins is fed to the mixing screws (production lines #1 and #2) for the addition of vermiculite, fiberglass, accelerator, potash, and boric acid.

Vermiculite enhances the fire rating of the wallboard. Dust from the vermiculite storage bin, is controlled by the vermiculite transfer baghouse.

Fiberglass acts as a binding agent for the fire retardant wallboard.

The accelerator (composed of Landplaster and Starch) shortens the set-time.

Starch enhances viscosity, improves handling; and prevents the settling of suspended solids. Starch is off-loaded in bulk quantities. Dust is controlled by the starch transfer baghouse, which exhausts to the inside of the building.

Potash and Boric Acid are added to improve the fire rating of the wallboard. Each additive is stored in a dedicated bin and is off-loaded in bulk quantities. Particulate emissions, from each storage bin, are controlled by their respective transfer baghouses which exhaust to the inside of the building.

Liquid Additives

Foam, dispersants, and water are used to prevent particles from settling and to improve the wallboard's fire resistance. Foam, generated by the addition of hot water (from SN-20), soap, and compressed air, controls the wallboard's density. Wax improves the wallboard's resistance to water damage.

Pin Mixer

The mixing screw delivers the stucco and solid additive mixture to the Pin Mixer. The solids are combined with water and foam to form a slurry. The Pin Mixer delivers the slurry to the wallboard-forming table.

Wallboard Forming

Slurry flows between two moving sheets of wallboard paper and is extruded between the top and bottom layers of paper on a forming table equipped with a vibrating roller. The wallboard's bottom sheet edges of paper are turned up to prevent the slurry from leaking out of the newly formed wallboard. A thin bead of glue is placed on the top layer of paper, which is allowed to bond with the lower layer. The glued layers of paper form a "paper envelope" for the slurry. The "paper envelope" is conveyed on a belt designed to allow the stucco mixture to re-hydrate (harden) before reaching the tunnel dryers. The wallboard is then cut into sections by a rotating knife as it arrives at the end of the conveyor belt system. An inverter flips the wallboard sections prior to stacking and drying.

AFIN: 31-00010

Tunnel Dryers (SN-44 AND SN-45)

Wallboard is formed by mixing additives and water with stucco and casting the resulting slurry into a moving sheet of paper and covering it with a second sheet. The wallboard is then sent to a cutoff knife and into a tunnel dryer, one for each production line, to drive off excess water. Both dryers are equipped with 150 MMBtu/hr natural gas fired burners. Combustion by-products are exhausted along with the excess moisture that has been removed from the board through exhaust stacks SN-44 and SN-45.

Baghouses

Take-Off and End-Trim (SN-18 and SN-32)

The process transfers the wallboard exiting the tunnel dryers to the Take-Off and end Trim saws. These machines cut the wallboard sections to precise lengths and apply a narrow strip of paper onto the exposed ends of the wallboard. The wallboard product is ready for storage and shipping.

The particulate matter that results from these operations is controlled by the Take-Off (SN-18) and End Trim (SN-32) baghouses. The baghouses transfer the collected dust to a pneumatic conveyor, which leads to the Recycle Baghouse (SN-43).

Recut Baghouse (SN-05)

Occasionally, production orders require wallboard with lengths other than standard. The process will take wallboard from the Take-Off line and cut it to the custom size ordered. The Recut (SN-05) baghouse (Under Construction) will control the particulate matter that results from this operation. The baghouse will transfer the collected dust to a pneumatic conveyor, which leads to the Recycle Baghouse (SN-43).

BPB uses wallboard from its production line to produce dunnage. Saws cut the wallboard into 4" wide strips, which are then stacked and glued. The process places the glued strips as spacers between the finished wallboard bundles, allowing the forklifts to lift and handle the material without damage. The equipment that produces the strips is called a sleuter machine and consists of several saws in parallel. The recut baghouse will receive the dust loading from a sleuter machine for control of particulate matter.

Recycle Baghouse (SN-43)

The process rejects wallboard that is not to specification. The rejected wallboard is transferred to the recycle process, where it is ground to pieces and sent to conveyor belt C-6. Recycle baghouse (SN-43) controls the particulate emissions resulting from the grinding operations. The dust collected by the baghouse, which includes the conveyed dust from trim operations, is deposited by the baghouse on conveyor belt C-6.

AFIN: 31-00010

Haul Road

BPB is paving 5,353 linear feet of the haul road. The width of the paving is 30 feet; except for the East portion of Area No. 3 that is wider to accommodate a passing lane.

Regulations

The following table contains the regulations applicable to this permit.

Table 2 – Regulations

Source No.	Regulation Citations		
All	Regulation No. 18, Arkansas Air Pollution Control Code		
Regulation No. 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementati			
All	Pollution Control		
All	Regulation No. 26, The Regulations of the Arkansas Air Permit Operating		
All	Program		
06, 07, 38, 40, 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO - Standards of Performance for Nonmeton			
41, 42, 42a	Mineral Processing Plants		
39, 46, 47, 48	40 CFR Part 60, Subpart UUU - Standard of Performance for Calciners and		
39, 40, 47, 40	Dryers in Mineral Industries		

The following table is a summary of emissions from the facility. The following table contains cross-references to the pages containing specific conditions and emissions for each source. This table, in itself, is not an enforceable condition of the permit.

Table 3 – Emission Summary

	EMISSION SUMMARY				
Source Description		Pollutant	Emission Rates		Cross Reference
No.		lb/hr	tpy	Page	
		PM	179.6	153.3	
Tota	al Allamahla Emissions	PM_{10}	179.6	125.3	
1018	al Allowable Emissions	SO_2	1.5	2.2	N/A
(PM ₁₀	is included in PM totals)	VOC	38.0	162.1	IN/A
(1 14110	is included in 1 W totals)	СО	41.5	172.2	
		NO_x	60.7	256.1	
1	Electrostatic Precipitator	PM	5.4	6.2	31
1	(ESP)	PM_{10}	5.4	6.2	31
4	4 Vettle Duell Deckeyee	PM	0.1	0.1	36
4	Kettle Buell Baghouse	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	30
5	Recut Baghouse	PM	0.2	0.1	44
3	Recut Bagnouse	PM_{10}	0.2	0.1	44
6	Primary Crusher	PM	0.7	1.7	16
0	6 Primary Crusher	PM_{10}	0.7	1.7	10
7	Primary Crusher Screen	PM	0.6	1.6	18
/ P	Timary Crusher Screen	PM_{10}	0.6	1.6	10
8	Gasoline Storage Tank	VOC	86.7	1.8	48

	EMISSION SUMMARY				
Source	D		Emission Rates		Cross
No.	Description	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy	Reference Page
1.0	Take-off / End trim	PM	0.1	0.1	42
18	18 Baghouse #1	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	42
10	Sacandamy Cayahan	PM	1.9	7.6	21
19	Secondary Crusher	PM_{10}	1.9	7.6	21
20	Heat Exchanger	Emissions included with SN-22-27			N/A
0.1	0 1 0	PM	0.4	0.8	21
21	Secondary Screen	PM_{10}	0.4	0.8	21
		PM	0.2	0.9	
		PM_{10}	0.2	0.9	
22	Kettle Combustion Stack	SO_2	0.1	0.1	20
22	#1	VOC	0.2	0.7	28
		CO	2.3	9.8	
		NO_X	2.7	11.6	
	Kettle Combustion Stack #2	PM	0.2	0.9	
		PM_{10}	0.2	0.9	
22		SO_2	0.1	0.1	28
23		VOC	0.2	0.7	28
		CO	2.3	9.8	
		NO_X	2.7	11.6	
		PM	0.2	0.9	
		PM_{10}	0.2	0.9	
24	Kettle Combustion Stack	SO_2	0.1	0.1	28
24	#3	VOC	0.2	0.7	28
		CO	2.3	9.8	
		NO_X	2.7	11.6	
		PM	0.1	0.2	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.2	
25	Kettle Combustion Stack	SO_2	0.1	0.1	16
23	#4	VOC	0.1	0.1	10
		CO	1.0	1.2	
		NO_X	1.2	1.4	
		PM	0.1	0.2	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.2	
26	Kettle Combustion Stack	SO_2	0.1	0.1	16
20	#5	VOC	0.1	0.1	10
		CO	1.0	1.2	
		NO_X	1.2	1.4	

	EMISSION SUMMARY				
Source	5			ion Rates	Cross
No.	Description	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy	Reference Page
		PM	0.1	0.2	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.2	
27	Kettle Combustion Stack	SO_2	0.1	0.1	16
27	#6	VOC	0.1	0.1	16
		CO	1.0	1.2	
		NO_X	1.2	1.4	
22	Take-off / End trim	PM	0.1	0.1	42
32	Baghouse #2	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	42
27	Facility Non-Point Source	PM	159.0	92.1	40
37	Emissions	PM_{10}	159.0	64.1	49
		PM	0.1	0.1	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
20	D 1D 11 W:11 #6	SO_2	0.1	0.1	25
38	38 Raymond Roller Mill #6	VOC	0.1	0.2	25
		CO	0.5	1.8	
		NO_X	0.5	2.2	
		PM	3.6	15.9	
	Class disas /Data a Mill 0	PM_{10}	3.6	15.9	
39	Claudius/Peter Mill &	SO_2	0.1	0.2	34
39	Flash Calciner Baghouses	VOC	0.4	1.6	34
	#1 and #2	CO	5.4	23.5	
		NO_X	6.4	28.0	
40	CP Mill Transfer Points	PM	2.9	12.4	36
40	Baghouse	PM_{10}	2.9	12.4	30
41	CP Mill Transfer Points	PM	0.1	0.2	36
41	Baghouse	PM_{10}	0.1	0.2	30
42	East Mezzanine Baghouse	PM	0.1	0.1	38
42	East Mezzailine Bagilouse	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	36
42a	West Mezzanine	PM	0.1	0.1	38
42a	Baghouse	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	36
43	Pagyala Paghayaa	PM	0.1	0.2	46
	Recycle Baghouse	PM_{10}	0.1	0.2	40
		PM	1.2	4.9	
		PM_{10}	1.2	4.9	
44	Tunnel Dryer #1	SO_2	0.1	0.4	40
	Tulliel Diyel #1	VOC	17.8	77.8	40
		CO	12.4	54.2	
		NO_X	20.6	90.2	

	EM	IISSION SUMMAI	RY		
Source	urce Emission		ion Rates	Cross	
No.	Description	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy	Reference
		DM			Page
		PM	1.2	4.9	
		PM_{10}	1.2	4.9	
45	Tunnel Dryer #2	SO_2	0.1	0.4	40
	•	VOC	17.8	77.8	
		CO	12.4	54.2	
		NO _X	20.6	90.2	
46	Calciner Baghouse #1	PM	0.1	0.1	28
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
47	Calciner Baghouse #2	PM	0.1	0.1	28
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
48	Calciner Baghouse #3	PM	0.1	0.1	28
	_	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
		PM	0.1	0.1	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
49	Raymond Roller Mill #1	SO_2 VOC	0.1	0.1	25
	•	CO	0.1 0.5	0.2 1.8	
		NO_{x}	0.5	2.2	
		PM	0.3	0.1	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
		SO_2	0.1	0.1	
50	Raymond Roller Mill #2	VOC	0.1	0.1	25
		CO	0.1	1.8	
		NO_x	0.5	2.2	
		PM	0.1	0.1	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
_		SO_2	0.1	0.1	
51	Raymond Roller Mill #3	VOC	0.1	0.2	25
		CO	0.5	1.8	
		NO_x	0.5	2.2	
		PM	0.1	0.1	
		PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
52		SO_2	0.1	0.1	
	Raymond Roller Mill #4	VOC	0.1	0.2	25
		CO	0.5	1.8	
		NO_x	0.5	2.2	

EMISSION SUMMARY					
Source	D 1.41	Pollutant	Emission Rates		Cross
No.	Description		lb/hr	tpy	Reference Page
	PM	0.1	0.1		
	52 D ID II WIII 115	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1	
52		SO_2	0.1	0.1	25
53 Raymond Roller Mill #5	VOC	0.1	0.2	25	
	CO	0.5	1.8		
	NO_x	0.5	2.2		

AFIN: 31-00010

Section III: PERMIT HISTORY

Weyerhaeuser Company (Briar Plant) received the initial permit on April 4, 1980. The permit included emissions from the drying kettles and from three electrostatic precipitators (ESPs).

598-AR-1 was issued on December 6, 1989. 598-AR-1 set the major source baseline for the facility and also addressed the change of ownership from Weyerhaeuser to Briar Gypsum.

598-AR-2 was issued on July 2, 1990. The permit modification addressed the addition of two baghouses and the permitting of some previously non-permitted sources. This permit brought the facility below 250 tons per year of particulate matter and thus made the facility a minor source in regards to PSD regulations.

598-AR-3 was issued on February 19, 1993. This permit modification addressed the permitting of two additional previously non-permitted sources.

598-AR-4 was issued on July 28, 1994. This permit modification addressed the addition of existing non-permitted sources, the revision of combustion emissions, and the removal of the Wet Plant Dryer.

598-AOP-R0 was issued on July 1, 1999. This permit action represented the issuance of an initial Regulation #26 permit, the change of ownership from Briar Gypsum to BPB Gypsum, and the addition of a new production line and associated sources (SN-34 through SN-49). In addition, the electrostatic precipitator associated with the Raymond Roller Mills (SN-03) was replaced with a baghouse, the wet plant dryer exhaust (SN-21) was deleted, and the four storage bin vents (SN-30 through SN-33) have been added to the permit. Emission limits were 178.5 tpy PM/PM₁₀, 1.9 tpy SO₂, 143.3 tpy VOC, 130.5 tpy CO, and 310.7 tpy NO_X. NO_X emissions were below 250 tpy prior to the issuance of permit #598 AOP-R0. The addition of sources has raised the NO_X emissions above the PSD threshold. Subsequent modifications to this permit will require review for PSD applicability.

Air Permit 598 AOP R0 erroneously classified BPB Gypsum (James Hardie Gypsum) as a major source subject to the Prevention of Significant Deterioration (PSD) regulations. The installation of the new crusher (SN-06) merely classified the facility as a major stationary source under PSD. Any subsequent modifications having a Significant emission rate increase requires a PSD review.

598-AOP-R1 was issued September 14, 2000. This modification allowed the facility to increase the annual production from 1.6 billion ft² to 1.8 billion ft². Usage time for SN-01 also increased from 876 hours per year to 2,628 hours per year. The permittee replaced the existing primary screen (SN-07 with a more efficient unit, with no changes in emissions. Also, the permittee added a portable crusher (SN-54) to the facility. The permit gave the facility an allowance to transfer off-spec material from the calciners to an outside waste pile and designated the seal stacks at SN-44 and SN-45 as insignificant. Finally, the method used to calculate baghouse emissions changed to use grain loading factors contained in the NSPS Subpart OOO.

AFIN: 31-00010

598-AOP-R2 was issued August 13, 2002. This permit modification authorized replacing the existing primary crusher (SN-06) with a unit having twice the capacity; authorized rerouting a sleuter machine's emissions from one baghouse (SN-18) to another (SN-05) and removed references to a portable crusher (SN-54) that was never installed.

598-AOP-R3 was issued June 29, 2005 as the first Title V Renewal for BPB Gypsum, Inc. The modification permitted the following:

- use of a foam and moisture dust suppression system as an alternative PM/PM₁₀ control device within the Secondary Crusher building;
- use of the inlet manifold for the Raymond Mill #5 Baghouse (SN-53) as an aspiration pick-up point whenever the Raymond mill is down; and
- paving 5,353 linear feet of the haul road.

The modification removed Vermiculite Bulk Material Storage Bin (SN-33), Bulk Starch Material Storage Bin (SN-34), Potash Bulk Material Storage Bin (SN-35) and Boric Acid Bulk Material Storage Bin (SN-36) since the sources vent inside the building. A water heater was added as an insignificant source.

.

AFIN: 31-00010

Section IV: SPECIFIC CONDITIONS

SN-06 and SN-07

Primary Crusher and Primary Screen

Description

Primary Crusher (3-05-015-05)

The apron pan feeder (54"x70") drops gypsum rock, from the covered storage piles, to an 8' stepped deck grizzly with 6" openings. The process adds foam or moisture at the apron to control PM emissions.

The grizzly, having a 600-ton per hour capacity, separates all gypsum rock greater than 6 inches in size to the new primary crusher. The crusher (SN-06) reduces the size of the rock to below 3 inches and sends the material to covered belt conveyor BC-3. The process adds foam or moisture to the feed and discharge of the primary crusher to control PM emissions.

SN-07 Primary Screen (3-05-15-07)

The grizzly also separates all rock smaller than 3 inches to the new primary screen (SN-07) by means of covered conveyor BC-1. The process controls the PM emissions from the transfer or rock from the grizzly to BC-1 by means of crushing/screening baghouse (CS BH) #1.

The screen separates all rock in the -3.0" to +3/4" inch range, sending the oversized material to BC-2 covered belt conveyor, which thereafter feeds BC-3 covered belt conveyor. The screen rejects gypsum ore smaller than 3/4 inch, considered useless, to a tailings pile through covered belt conveyors BC-6 and BC-7. BC-7 drops the tailings to the tailings pile through a telescopic chute. A front-end loader loads the tailings to trucks, which haul the rejected ore material back to the mine site for disposal. The primary screen controls particulate matter emissions from its feed and discharge points by means of baghouse CS BH #3.

Specific Conditions

1. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. Compliance with this condition is demonstrated by hourly emission rates based on the maximum capacity of the equipment and the ton per year emission rates limited by Specific Condition #4. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 4 – Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Primary Crusher and Primary Screen

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
06	PM_{10}	0.7	1.7
07	PM_{10}	0.6	1.6

AFIN: 31-00010

2. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. Compliance with this condition is demonstrated by hourly emission rates based on the maximum capacity of the equipment and the ton per year emission rates limited by Specific Condition #4. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801, effective February 15, 1999, and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 5 - Non-Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Primary Crusher and Primary Screen

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
06	PM	0.7	1.7
07	PM	0.6	1.6

3. Visible emissions may not exceed the limits specified in the following table of this permit. Compliance with this condition shall be demonstrated through compliance with Specific Condition #6.

Table 6 – Primary Screen Visible Emissions Limit

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation
06	15%	40 CFR § 60.672(c)
07	20%	Regulation No. 19 §19.503 and 40 CFR Part 52,
07	2070	Subpart E

- 4. The maximum allowable tons of gypsum rock crushed in the primary crusher (SN-06) are 1,860,000 tons during any consecutive twelve-month period. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-04 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]
- 5. The permittee will maintain records that demonstrate compliance with the limit set in Specific Condition #4. The Department may use the records for enforcement purposes. The facility will determine compliance on a monthly basis by totaling the amount of gypsum rock processed for the previous twelve months. The facility will make available each twelve-month total for inspection by the last day of the month after the reported twelve months. The facility will maintain the records onsite and provide the records to Department personnel upon request. The facility will submit each individual month and the twelve-month rolling average to the Department in accordance to General Condition #7. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]
- 6. The permittee will conduct daily observations of the opacity of SN-06 and SN-07 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;

AFIN: 31-00010

- c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
- d. The corrective action taken;
- e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
- f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

NSPS Requirements

- 7. The primary crusher (SN-06) is subject to 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. The initial compliance test for SN-06 was in September 2002. Appendix A contains a copy of 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
- 8. The permittee will not exhaust gas exhibiting opacity of greater than fifteen percent at SN-06. Compliance with the opacity was demonstrated in the initial compliance test in September 2002 and by daily observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR § 60.672(c)].

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-19 and SN-21

Secondary Crusher and Secondary Screen

Description

Secondary Screen

The process uses conveyor BC-3 to transfer the crushed rock from the primary crusher, the classified rock from the primary screen, and the recycle material from the secondary crusher to the new Secondary Screen (SN-21). The secondary screen, with a capacity of 400 TPH, delivers –1 3/8" to +3/4" classified rock either to the Ore Storage Warehouse (OSW) by means of the existing Feeds OSW conveyor, or to the 200 Ton Transfer Silo (new) by means of BC-9 covered belt conveyor. A splitter forwards the crushed rock to the OSW or to BC-9. The process controls the PM emissions from the diverter chute drop to the Feeds OSW conveyor by means of baghouse CS BH #7. Furthermore, the process controls the PM emissions from the diverter chute transfer to conveyor BC-9 by means of baghouse CS BH #6.

The process moves the stored rock from the OSW to BC-9 by means of the Reclaim Conveyor (existing). Baghouse CS BH #8 controls the emissions of the transfer of rock between the reclaim conveyor and BC-9. The 200-ton Transfer Silo delivers crushed gypsum rock to six rock bins (3-05-015-09), serving the Raymond Roller Mills #1 to #6, and to a seventh bin serving the Claudius/Peter (CP) Mill (Attachment A, Page 3). The rock bins serving Raymond Mills #1 to #5 each has a throughput capacity of 20 ton per hour, the Raymond Mill #6 bin a capacity of 50 ton per hour, and the CP Mill bin a throughput capacity of 95 ton per hour. The process controls the PM emissions from the 200-ton transfer silo by means of baghouse CS BH #9.

Secondary Crusher

The process takes the classified rock ($-2 \frac{1}{2}$ " to $+1 \frac{3}{8}$ ") from the secondary screen to the 100 Ton Metering Bin (new) by means of BC-4 covered conveyor. The metering bin maintains an even delivery of gypsum rock to the new Secondary Crusher. The crusher sends the processed material back to reclassification by means of BC-5 covered belt conveyor.

The process controls particulate matter (PM) emissions from the secondary crushing operations by applying foam or moisture or by means of the replacement Secondary Crusher Baghouse. This cone crusher is subject to the requirements contained in 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO.

The use of a foam and moisture dust suppression system (proposed modification) as an alternative to the baghouse is allowed to reduce the fugitive and nuisance dust for the following units related to the secondary crushing and screening operations:

BC-3 Diverter Chute DC-110-01

AFIN: 31-00010

BC-4 R-200-0 Belt BC-5 Diverter Chute DC-110-02 BC-8 R-200-2 Belt Conveyor C-6 Covered Belt Shuttle Belt

During conditions where the gypsum rock is excessively moist, the baghouse filters become saturated (blinded) by caking of the gypsum dust. The foam and moisture spray system will then operate as needed until the conditions allow the operation of the baghouse.

Specific Conditions

9. The permittee will not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour pollutant emission rates are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment, and the ton per year pollutant emission rates are limited by Specific Condition #11. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 7 - Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Secondary Crusher Building

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
19	PM_{10}	1.9	7.6
21	PM_{10}	0.4	0.8

10. The permittee will not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour pollutant emission rates are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment, and the ton per year pollutant emission rates are effectively limited by Specific Condition #11. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 8 – Non-Criteria Pollutant Emission Limits for Secondary Crusher Building

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
19	PM	1.9	7.6
21	PM	0.4	0.8

- 11. The maximum allowable tons of gypsum rock crushed in the secondary crusher (SN-19) are 1,681,920 tons of gypsum rock during any consecutive twelve-month period. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]
- 12. The permittee will maintain records that demonstrate compliance with the limit in Specific Condition #11. The Department may use the records for enforcement purposes. The facility will determine compliance on a monthly basis by totaling the amount of gypsum rock processed for the previous twelve months. The facility will make available each twelve-month total for inspection by the last day of the month after the reported twelve months. The facility will maintain the records onsite and provide the records to Department personnel upon request. The facility will submit each individual month and the twelve-month rolling average to the Department in accordance to General Provision #7. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

AFIN: 31-00010

- 13. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity at SN-19 and SN-21 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a weekly log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]
 - a. The date and time of the observation:
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

NSPS Requirements

- 14. The secondary crusher (SN-19) and the secondary screen (SN-21) are subject to 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. The initial compliance testing for SN-19 was in December 1999. Permit No. 598-AOP-R4 authorized the replacement of SN-19 in accordance with §60.670 (d)(1). Appendix A contains a copy of 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
 - a. Within 60 days after achieving the maximum production rate at which SN-21 will be operated, but not later than 180 days after initial startup, the permittee shall conduct performance tests for particulate matter and opacity. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
 - i. Method 5 or Method 17 shall be used to demonstrate compliance with the limit in Specific Condition #15. The performance test shall be performed according to the provisions of §60.675. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
 - ii. Method 9 along with the provisions of §60.675 (c) shall be used to demonstrate compliance with the opacity limit in Specific Condition #16. This initial test shall be conducted by personnel trained and certified in Method 9 observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
 - b. With in 30 days of the performance tests, the permittee shall furnish a written report of the results to the Department in accordance with General Provision #7 of this permit. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

AFIN: 31-00010

15. The permittee will not emit particulate matter in excess of 0.05 g/dscm (0.022 gr/dscf) from the secondary crusher or the secondary screen. Compliance was demonstrated for SN-19 with the initial compliance test of December 1999. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.672(a)(1)]

16. The permittee will not exhaust gas exhibiting opacity of greater than seven percent opacity at SN-19 or SN-21. Compliance is demonstrated by the initial compliance test of December 1999 (SN-19) and weekly observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.672(a)(1)]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-38, SN-49, SN-50, SN-51, SN-52, and SN-53

Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses #1 through #6

Description

Raymond Roller Mills and Flash Dryers

The process operates six Raymond Roller Mills, each equipped with a flash dryer. The Raymond Mills purpose is to pulverize up to 150 ton per hour of gypsum rock and dry the millings to produce landplaster, the raw material used to manufacture stucco. The flash dryers use only pipeline quality natural gas as heating fuel. Raymond Roller Mills #1 thru #5 (SN-49 thru SN-53) are equipped with a 3.0 MMBtu/hr natural gas burner each. Raymond Roller Mill #6 (SN-38) is equipped with a 5.0 MMBtu/hr natural gas burner. The natural gas burners account for the non-PM pollutant emissions. Raymond Roller Mill #6 (SN-38) is subject to the requirements contained in 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO.

Specific Conditions

17. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The maximum capacity of the equipment limits the pound per hour pollutant emission rates. Compliance with Specific Condition #11 and combustion of natural gas limit the tons per year pollutant emission rates. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 9 - Criteria Emission Limits for Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses #1 through #6

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
38	VOC	0.1	0.2
	СО	0.5	1.8
	NO_X	0.5	2.2
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
49	VOC	0.1	0.1
	СО	0.1	1.1
	NO_X	0.1	1.3
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
50	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	0.1	1.1
	NO_X	0.1	1.3

AFIN: 31-00010

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
51	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	0.1	1.1
	NO_X	0.1	1.3
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
52	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	0.1	1.1
	NO_X	0.1	1.3
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
53	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	0.1	1.1
	NO_X	0.1	1.3

18. The maximum emission rates are in the following table. The pound per hour pollutant emission rates are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment. The ton per year pollutant emission rates are limited by Specific Condition #11 and combustion of natural gas. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 10 -Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses #1-#6

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
38	PM	0.1	0.1
49	PM	0.1	0.1
50	PM	0.1	0.1
51	PM	0.1	0.1
52	PM	0.1	0.1
53	PM	0.1	0.1

19. Visible emissions may not exceed the limits specified in the following table of this permit. Compliance with this condition shall be demonstrated through compliance with Specific Condition #20.

Table 11 – Raymond Roller Mill Baghouses Visible Emission Limits

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation
38	7%	40 CFR § 60.672(a)(1)
49, 50, 51, 52, 53	5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A

20. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions on sources SN-38, SN-49, SN-50, SN-51 SN-52 and SN-53. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions.

AFIN: 31-00010

To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records onsite, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [Regulation No. 18 §18.1004 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

- a. The date and time of the observation:
- b. If excess emissions were detected;
- c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
- d. The corrective action taken;
- e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
- f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.
- 21. The Raymond Roller Mill #6 (SN-38) is subject to 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. The initial compliance tests for SN-38 were in September 1999. Appendix A contains a copy of 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
- 22. The permittee will not emit particulate matter in excess of 0.05 g/dscm (0.022 gr/dscf) from the Raymond Roller Mill #6 (SN-38). Compliance was demonstrated with the initial compliance test in September 1999. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.672(a)(1)]
- 23. The permittee will not exhaust gas exhibiting opacity of greater than seven percent opacity from SN-38. Compliance was demonstrated by initial compliance test in September 1999 and weekly observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.672(a)(1)]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-22, SN-23, SN-24 (Combustion Stacks) and SN-46, SN-47, SN-48 (Baghouses)

Kettle Calciners #1, #2, and #3 and Baghouses

Description

The manufacturing process converts dried and pulverized gypsum rock (landplaster) into stucco in kettle calciners SN-22, SN-23, and SN-24. The process delivers up to 20 tons per hour of landplaster from the storage bin to each calciner. The calciners, using natural gas as fuel, indirectly heat and remove up to 85% of the chemically bound water in landplaster, converting the landplaster into stucco.

The calciners exhaust their combustion gases through their (SN-22 to SN-27) stacks into the atmosphere. A portion of the gases exhausted through the stacks is used to heat process water in a heat exchanger (SN-20). The calcined stucco leaves the kettles by gravity into hot pits, where the process de-steams the material. The process controls the particulate matter resulting from the transfer of the stucco to the hot pits with Calciner Baghouses #1, #2, and #3 (SN-46, 47, and 48). The calciners are subject to 40 CFR §60, Subpart UUU.

Specific Conditions

24. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour pollutant emission rates are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment. The ton per year pollutant emission rates from the natural gas combustion are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment (SN-22, SN-23 and SN-24). The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates (SN-46, SN-47 and SN-48) is limited by Specific Condition #11 and proper operation of the control device. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 12 – Criteria Emission Limits for Kettles Calciners#1, #2, and #3

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
20	The emissions from S	l in the	
20	emissions from SN-22	2 through SN-27.	
	PM_{10}	0.2	0.9
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
22	VOC	0.2	0.7
	CO	2.3	9.8
	NO_X	2.7	11.6
	PM_{10}	0.2	0.9
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
23	VOC	0.2	0.7
	CO	2.3	9.8
	NO_X	2.7	11.6

AFIN: 31-00010

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
	PM_{10}	0.2	0.9
	SO ₂ VOC	0.1	0.1
24	VOC	0.2	0.7
	CO	2.3	9.8
	NO_X	2.7	11.6
46	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
47	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
48	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1

25. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. Compliance with the particulate emission rates is demonstrated through proper operation of the control device for SN-46, SN-47 and SN-48 and Specific Condition #11. Compliance with the particulate emission rates is demonstrated through combustion of natural gas for SN-22, SN-23 and SN-24. The pound per hour pollutant emission rates are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 13 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Kettle Calciners #1, #2, and #3

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy		
20	The emissions from SN-20 are included in the				
	emissions from SN-22	2 through SN-27.			
22	PM	0.2	0.9		
23	PM	0.2	0.9		
24	PM	0.2	0.9		
46	PM	0.1	0.1		
47	PM	0.1	0.1		
48	PM	0.1	0.1		

26. The permittee shall not exceed the opacity from sources listed below. The permittee shall demonstrate compliance for SN-22, SN-23, and SN-24 by combustion of natural gas. The permittee shall demonstrate compliance for SN-46, SN-47, and SN-48 through compliance with Specific Condition #27.

Table 14 – Kettle Calciners #1, #2, and #3 Visible Emission Limits

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation
22, 23, 24	5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A
46, 47, 48	10%	40 CFR §60.732(b)

27. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-46, SN-47 and SN-48 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to

AFIN: 31-00010

Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 - Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]

- a. The date and time of the observation;
- b. If excess emissions were detected;
- c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
- d. The corrective action taken;
- e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
- f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

NSPS Requirements

- 28. The Calciner Baghouses #1-#3 (SN-46, SN-47, and SN-48) are subject to all applicable requirements of the New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) Subpart UUU provisions as identified in the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Title 40, Part 60.730. The initial compliance tests for SN-46, SN-47, and SN-48 were in September 1999. A copy of this Subpart is provided in Appendix A. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR Subpart UUU]
- 29. The permittee will not discharge particulate matter in excess of 0.092 gr/dscm (0.040 grains per dry standard cubic foot) from SN-46, SN-47, and SN-48. Compliance was demonstrated with the initial compliance test of September 1999. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.732(a)]
- 30. The permittee will not discharge exhausts with opacity of greater than 10% from SN-46, SN-47, and SN-48. Compliance was demonstrated by initial compliance test of September 1999 and weekly observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.732(b)]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-01 (North ESP) and SN-25, SN-26, SN-27 (Combustion Stacks)

North ESP and Kettle Calciners #4, #5, and #6

Description

Kettle calciners convert landplaster into stucco. Landplaster from the storage bin is fed to each calciner. The calciners, each using 12.0 MMBTU/hr of natural gas as fuel, indirectly heat and remove water in the landplaster to produce stucco. The calciners exhaust combustion gases through their combustion stacks (SN-25 to SN-27). The calcined stucco leaves the kettle by gravity into a hot pit, where it begins cooling. Particulate emissions from the hot pits are controlled by the electrostatic precipitator (SN-01). The process conveys the stucco from the hot pits to the Buell System pit, by means of pneumatic and screw conveyors, for further cooling and storage. These kettles are estimated to only be used for 2,268 hr/year. These calcining kettles are not subject to regulation 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart UUU due to the installation and modification dates of the units.

A portion of the gases exhausted through stacks SN-22 to SN-27 is used to heat process water in a heat exchanger (SN-20). Hot stucco is conveyed pneumatically and by screw conveyor to the Buell System pit for further cooling and storage.

Specific Conditions

31. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The permittee demonstrates compliance with the particulate emission rates for SN-01 through proper operation of the control device and Specific Condition #11. The maximum capacity of the equipment limits the pound per hour emission rates. Compliance with Specific Condition #11 and combustion of natural gas limits the tons per year emission rates. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 15 – Criteria Emission Limits for North ESP and Kettle Calciners #4, #5, and #6

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
01	PM_{10}	5.4	6.2
20	The emissions from S	N-20 are included	l in the
20	emissions from SN-22	2 through SN-27.	
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.2
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
25	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	1.0	1.2
	NO_X	1.2	1.4
	PM_{10}	0.1	0.2
	SO_2	0.1	0.1
26	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	1.0	1.2
	NO_X	1.2	1.4

AFIN: 31-00010

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
	PM ₁₀	0.1	0.2
	SO ₂ VOC	0.1	0.1
27	VOC	0.1	0.1
	CO	1.0	1.2
	NO_X	1.2	1.4

32. The maximum emission rates are in the following table. Compliance with the particulate emission rates is demonstrated through proper operation of the control device and Specific Condition #11 for SN-01. The pound per hour pollutant emission rates are based on the maximum capacity of the equipment. The ton per year pollutant emission rates are limited by combustion of natural gas for SN-25-27. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 16 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for North ESP and Kettles Calciners #4, #5, and #6

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
01	PM	5.4	6.2
20	The emissions from SN-20 are included in the emissions from SN-22 through SN-27.		
25	PM	0.1	0.2
26	PM	0.1	0.2
27	PM	0.1	0.2

33. Visible emissions may not exceed the limits specified in the following table of this permit as measured by EPA Reference Method. The permittee will comply with the opacity limits for sources SN-25, SN-26, and SN-27 by burning pipeline quality natural gas. The daily observations demonstrate compliance for SN-01.

Table 17 – North ESP and Kettle Calciners #4, #5, and #6 Visible Emission Limits

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation
01	20%	Regulation No. 19 §19.503 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E
25, 26, 27	5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A

- 34. The permittee will conduct daily observations of the opacity from SN-01 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;

- If excess emissions were detected; b.
- The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity); c.
- The corrective action taken; d.
- e.
- If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and The name of the person conducting the opacity observations. f.

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-39

Claudius/Peter Mill & Flash Calciner Baghouses #1 and #2

Description

The manufacturing process also converts gypsum rock into stucco with the use of a Claudius/Peter (CP) Mill and Flash Calciner. The CP mill simultaneously grinds and calcines the gypsum rock into stucco, while avoiding the intermediate steps of storing and handling landplaster. The Flash Calciner portion of the CP Mill contacts the pulverized rock directly with the combustion gases of natural gas, which the calciner burns at a rate of 65 MMBTU/h.

The process transfers up to 80 ton per hour of gypsum rock from the CP Mill Rock Bin (3-05-015-09) to the CP Mill. The mill pulverizes the rock and contacts it with the combustion gases of the flash calciner to achieve the conversion into stucco. The gases carry the calcined stucco from the Mill to the Flash Calciner Baghouses #1 and #2. The two parallel baghouses separate the stucco from the gas stream and control particulate emissions related to the transfer of the stucco from the CP Mill to the conveyance system.

The exhaust of both baghouses is combined into a single stack (SN-39). SN-39 exhausts the combustion gases of the Flash Calciner as well as up to 12.5 ton per hour of water, released by the gypsum, as vapor. The Flash Calciner baghouses transfer up to 67.5 ton per hour of stucco to the Buell System pit using the transfer point's conveyance system. The Claudius Peter Mill/Flash Calciner is subject to the requirements contained in 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart UUU.

Specific Conditions

35. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. Specific Condition #11 limits the ton per year pollutant emission rates for particulates. The products of combustion are limited by the combustion of pipeline quality natural gas. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 18 - Criteria Emission Limits for Claudius/Peter Mill & Flash Calciner Baghouses

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM_{10}	3.6	15.9
SO_2	0.1	0.2
VOC	0.4	1.6
CO	5.4	23.5
NO_X	6.4	28.0

36. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The emission ton per year emission rates for particulates are limited by Specific Condition #11. The products of combustion are limited by the combustion of pipeline quality natural gas.

AFIN: 31-00010

[Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311

Table 19 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Claudius/Peter Mill & Flash Calciner Baghouses

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM	3.6	15.9

- 37. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-39 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

NSPS Requirements

- 38. The Claudius/Peter Mill & Flash Calciner Baghouses are subject to all applicable requirements of the New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) Subpart UUU provisions as identified in the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Title 40, Part 60.730. The initial compliance tests were in May 1999. A copy of this Subpart is in Appendix A:. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR Subpart UUU]
- 39. The permittee will not discharge particulate matter in excess of 0.092 gr/dscm (0.040 grains per dry standard cubic foot) from SN-39 CP, Mill and Flash Calciner. Compliance was demonstrated with the initial compliance test in May 1999. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.732(a)]
- 40. The permittee will not discharge exhausts with opacity of greater than 10% from SN-39, CP Mill. Compliance was demonstrated by initial compliance test in May 1999 and weekly observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60.732(b)]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-04 and SN-40

Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points Baghouse

Description

Stucco is gravity fed to the hot pits from each kettle for de-steaming. The process conveys all the stucco from the hot pit using screw conveyors and then pneumatically to the Kettle Buell Baghouse (SN-04). The conveyor handles up to 100 ton per hour of stucco.

The baghouse separates the finished stucco from the conveying stream and transfers it to the Kettle Stucco 500 ton storage tank.

The CP Mill Transfer Points Baghouse (SN-40) is subject to the requirements contained in 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO. The existing Kettle Buell Baghouse (SN-04) is not subject to regulation 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO due to the installation and modification dates of the unit.

Specific Conditions

41. The permittee will not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rates for particulates are limited by Specific Condition #11 and proper operation of the baghouse. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 20 - Criteria Emission Limits for Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
04	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
40	PM_{10}	2.9	12.4

42. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Condition #11 and proper operation of the baghouse. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 21 - Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
04	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
40	PM_{10}	2.9	12.4

43. The permittee shall not exceed the opacities listed below, as measured by EPA Reference Method 9. [Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

AFIN: 31-00010

Table 22 – Kettle Buell Baghouse and CP Mill Transfer Points Visible Emission Limits

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation	
04	5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A	
40	7%	40 CFR § 60.672(a)(1)	

- 44. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-04 and SN-40 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

NSPS

- 45. The CP Mill Transfer Points Baghouse (SN-40) is subject to 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. The initial compliance tests were in November 1999. Appendix A: contains a copy of 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
- 46. The permittee will not emit particulate matter in excess of 0.05 g/dscm (0.022 gr/dscf) from the CP Mill Transfer Points Baghouse (SN-40). Compliance was demonstrated with the initial compliance test in November 1999. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR § 60.672(a)(1)]
- 47. The permittee will not exhaust gas exhibiting opacity of greater than seven percent opacity from CP Mill Transfer Points Baghouse (SN-40). Compliance was demonstrated by initial compliance test in November 1999 and weekly observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR § 60.672(a)(1)]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-41, SN-42, and SN-42b

CP Buell, East and West Mezzanine Baghouses

Description

CP Buell Baghouse

The Buell System pit receives the stucco and cools it by forced ambient temperature air. The air further lifts the stucco to the Buell Cyclones #1 and #2. The two parallel cyclones separate most of the stucco from the lifting air stream, sending the collected material to a pneumatic conveyance system. The overhead vent of the cyclones sends the stucco particulate laden exhaust to the Buell Baghouse (SN-41).

The Buell baghouse also controls particulate emissions related to stucco conveyance by screw conveyors S-100-5, -6, -7, and bucket elevator B-300-1. Furthermore, the Buell baghouse controls particulate emissions related to the loading and unloading of the CP Mill and Calcine mill stucco storage bins.

East and West Mezzanine Baghouses (SN-42 and SN-42a)

The stucco separated by the cyclones is conveyed pneumatically to either the high capacity storage bins or directly to the line production storage bins. Both the CP Mill and Calcine Mill stucco storage bins have a capacity of 431 tons, and a throughput capacity of 80 ton per hour. These bins allow the process storage capacity for occasions when stucco is not delivered to the Buell System. The S-100-6 and –7 screw conveyors move the stucco to the bucket elevator, which in turn delivers the stucco to the pneumatic conveyance leading to the line production storage bins. The Line #1 and #2 storage bins each have a capacity of 100 tons and supply the wallboard production lines with stucco. Each of the Stucco Storage Baghouses is subject to the requirements contained in 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO.

Specific Conditions

48. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rates for particulates are limited by Specific Condition #11 and proper operation of the baghouse. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 23 - Criteria Emission Rates for CP Buell, East and West Mezzanine Baghouses

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
41	PM_{10}	0.1	0.2
42	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
42a	PM_{10}	0.1	0.3

49. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity.

AFIN: 31-00010

The ton per year pollutant emission rates for particulates are limited by Specific Condition #111 and proper operation of the baghouse. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 24 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for CP Buell, East and West Mezzanine Baghouses

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
41	PM	0.1	0.2
42	PM	0.1	0.1
42a	PM	0.1	0.3

- 50. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-41, SN-42 and 42a by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

NSPS Requirements

- 51. The Stucco Storage Baghouses (SN-41, SN-42 and SN-42a) are subject to 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. The initial compliance tests were in December 1999. A copy of this Subpart is in Appendix A: contains a copy of 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR §60 Subpart OOO]
- 52. The permittee will not emit particulate matter in excess of 0.05 g/dscm (0.022 gr/dscf) from the Stucco Storage Baghouses (SN-41, SN-42 and SN-42a). Compliance was demonstrated with the initial compliance test in December 1999. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR § 60.672(a)(1)]
- 53. The permittee will not exhaust gas exhibiting opacity of greater than seven percent opacity from the Stucco Storage Baghouses (SN-41, SN-42 and SN-42a). Compliance was demonstrated by initial compliance test in December 1999 and weekly observations. [Regulation No. 19 §19.304 and 40 CFR § 60.672(a)(1)]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-44 and SN-45

Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2

Description

The two existing process lines form wallboard by placing a slurry (made of a stucco, water, and additives mixture) between two moving sheets of paper. The wallboard is then sent to a cutoff knife and into a tunnel dryer, one for each production line, to drive off excess water by direct contact with heat. Both dryers are equipped with 150 MMBtu/hr natural gas fired burners. The SN-44 and SN-45 stacks exhaust the combustion by-products along with the excess moisture removed from the wallboard. The tunnel dryers are exempt from the requirements contained in 40 CFR Part 60, Subpart UUU.

Specific Conditions

54. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The emission rates are limited by Plant Wide Condition #7 and combustion of natural gas. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 25 – Criteria Emission Limits for Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
	PM_{10}	1.2	4.9
	SO_2	0.1	0.4
44	VOC	17.8	77.8
	CO	12.4	54.2
	NO_X	20.6	90.2
	PM_{10}	1.2	4.9
	SO_2	0.1	0.4
45	VOC	17.8	77.8
	CO	12.4	54.2
	NO_X	20.6	90.2

55. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Plant Wide Condition #7 and combustion of natural gas. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 26 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
44	PM	1.2	4.9
45	PM	1.2	4.9

AFIN: 31-00010

56. The permittee shall not exceed the opacities listed below, as measured by EPA Reference Method 9. [Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 27 – Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2 Visible Emission Limits

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation
44, 45	5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A

- 57. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-44 and SN-45 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-18 and SN-32

Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2

Description

The process transfers the wallboard exiting the tunnel dryers to the Take-Off and end Trim saws. These machines cut the wallboard sections to precise lengths and apply a narrow strip of paper onto the exposed ends of the wallboard. The wallboard product is ready for storage and shipping.

The particulate matter that results from these operations is controlled by the Take-Off (SN-18) and End Trim (SN-32) baghouses. The baghouses transfer the collected dust to a pneumatic conveyor, which leads to the Recycle Baghouse (SN-43).

Specific Conditions

58. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. Plant Wide Condition #7 and proper operation of the baghouse limit the ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 28 – Criteria Emission Limits for Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
18	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1
32	PM_{10}	0.1	0.1

59. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rates for particulates are limited by Plant Wide Condition #7 and proper operation of the baghouse. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 29 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2

Source No.	Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
18	PM	0.1	0.1
32	PM	0.1	0.1

60. The permittee shall not exceed the opacities listed below, as measured by EPA Reference Method 9. The permittee demonstrates compliance by opacity observations. [Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 30 – Take-off/End Trim Baghouses #1 and #2 Visible Emission Limits

Source No.	Limit	Regulatory Citation
18, 32	5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A

AFIN: 31-00010

- 61. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-18 and SN-32 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-05

Recut Baghouse

Description

Occasionally, production orders require wallboard with lengths other than standard. The process will take wallboard from the Take-Off line and cut it to the custom size ordered. The Recut (SN-05) baghouse (Under Construction) will control the particulate matter that results from this operation. The baghouse will transfer the collected dust to a pneumatic conveyor, which leads to the Recycle Baghouse (SN-43).

BPB uses wallboard from its production line to produce dunnage. Saws cut the wallboard into 4" wide strips, which are then stacked and glued. The process places the glued strips as spacers between the finished wallboard bundles, allowing the forklifts to lift and handle the material without damage. The equipment that produces the strips is called a sleuter machine and consists of several saws in parallel. The recut baghouse will receive the dust loading from a sleuter machine for control of particulate matter.

Specific Conditions

62. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Plant Wide Condition #7 and proper operation of the baghouse. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 31 - Criteria Emission Limits for Recut Baghouse

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM_{10}	0.2	0.1

63. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour emission rates are based on maximum equipment capacity. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulate is limited by Plant Wide Condition #7. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 32 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Recut Baghouse

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM	0.2	0.1

64. The permittee shall not exceed the opacity listed below, as measured by EPA Reference Method 9. The permittee will comply with the opacity by proper operation of the control equipment and opacity observations. [18.501 of Regulation 18 - Arkansas Air Pollution Control Code, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]

AFIN: 31-00010

Table 33 – Opacity for Recut Baghouse Visible Emission Limit

Limit	Regulatory Citation
5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A

- 65. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-05 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-43

Recycle Baghouse

Description

The process rejects wallboard that is not to specification. The rejected wallboard is transferred to the recycle process, where it is ground to pieces and sent to conveyor belt C-6. Recycle baghouse (SN-43) controls the particulate emissions resulting from the grinding operations. The dust collected by the baghouse, which includes the conveyed dust from trim operations, is deposited by the baghouse on conveyor belt C-6.

Specific Conditions

66. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates in the following table. The pound per hour is based on the maximum capacity of the equipment. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Condition #70. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 34 - Criteria Emission Limits for Recycle Baghouse

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM_{10}	0.1	0.2

67. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour is based on the maximum capacity of the equipment. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Condition #70. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 35 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Recycle Baghouse

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM	0.1	0.2

68. The permittee shall not exceed the opacities listed below, as measured by EPA Reference Method 9. The permittee will demonstrate compliance by proper operation of the baghouse and weekly observations.

Table 36 – Recycle Baghouse Visible Emission Limit

Limit	Regulatory Citation
5%	Regulation No. 18 §18.501 and A.C.A

- 69. The permittee will recycle a maximum of 28,800 tons per year of wallboard. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]
- 70. The permittee will maintain a twelve-month total of the amount of wallboard recycled. The permittee will keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. The permittee will submit the records to the

AFIN: 31-00010

Department in accordance with General Condition #7. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

- 71. The permittee will conduct weekly observations of the opacity from SN-43 by personnel familiar with the permittee's visible emissions. The permittee will maintain personnel trained in EPA Reference Method 9. If visible emissions in excess of the permitted opacity are detected, the permittee will immediately take action to identify the cause of the excess emissions, implement corrective action, and document that the corrective action corrected the excess emissions. To demonstrate compliance the permittee shall maintain a daily log to record the following information. The permittee will update the records daily, keep the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel upon request. [19.705 of Regulation 19 Regulations of the Arkansas Plan of Implementation for Air Pollution Control, 40 CFR part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. 8-4-203 as referenced by 8-4-304 and 8-4-311]
 - a. The date and time of the observation;
 - b. If excess emissions were detected;
 - c. The cause of the excess emissions (high opacity);
 - d. The corrective action taken;
 - e. If excess emissions (high opacity) were corrected; and
 - f. The name of the person conducting the opacity observations.

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-08

Gasoline Storage Tank

Description

BPB Gypsum, Inc. has several gasoline, diesel, and lubricating oil storage tanks on site. The gasoline storage tank (SN-08) is the only tank with emissions of a great enough magnitude to be included in the permit. The rest of the tanks are included in the list of Insignificant Activities contained in Section VII of this permit.

Specific Conditions

72. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The pound per hour is based on the maximum fill rate of the tank. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Condition #74. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 37 – Criteria Emission Limits for Gasoline Storage Tank

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
VOC	86.7	1.8

- 73. The permittee shall store only gasoline fuel or other motor fuels with a vapor pressure equal to or less than that of gasoline at SN-08. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and CFR Part 52, Subpart E]
- 74. The permittee shall not exceed the throughput limit of 120,000 gallons of gasoline during any consecutive 12-month period. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and CFR Part 52, Subpart E]
- 75. The permittee shall maintain records which demonstrate compliance with the limit set in Specific Condition #74 and may be used by the Department for enforcement purposes. These records shall be maintained on site and shall be provided to Department personnel upon request. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

AFIN: 31-00010

SN-37

Facility Non-Point Source Emissions

Description

Several activities at the BPB Gypsum facility result in the production of non-point source emissions. Each of these points involves the handling or processing of raw gypsum ore. The following table gives a complete list of all points included in the Facility Non-Point Source Emissions (SN-37). There are no points included in this list where pulverized land plaster or stucco (dry powdery material) is handled.

BPB is paving a portion of the road to control fugitive emissions related to the transport of finished product.

The summary of the non-point sources for SN-37 is as follows:

Table 38 – Facility Non-Point Source Emissions Summary Table

Description	Pollutant
Overburden Removal	PM & PM ₁₀
Drilling at Mine Site	$PM \& PM_{10}$
Loading of Ore	$PM \& PM_{10}$
Transportation over Unpaved roads	$PM \& PM_{10}$
Transportation over Paved Roads	PM & PM ₁₀

Proposed Modification to Unpaved Haul Road

BPB proposes to pave 5,353 linear feet of the haul road. The proposed pavement sections are:

Area No. 3 - 3,299 Linear Feet Area No. 4 - 2,124 Linear Feet

The width of the proposed paving will be 30 feet except for the East portion of Area No. 3. This portion will be wider to accommodate a passing lane. Traffic on this road consists of 110 round trips of semi-trucks a day in a 5-day workweek. Furthermore, maintenance vehicles traverse the same road at a rate of 20 round trips per day on the same workweek schedule. This traffic translates to 34,267 Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) per year.

Presently, BPB controls fugitive emissions on the unpaved haul road by spraying Coherex (Dust abatement emulsion) and moisture. The control efficiency of this method is 80%. BPB proposes to control fugitive emissions on the paved haul road by periodic mechanical sweeping. The control efficiency of this method is 50%.

AFIN: 31-00010

Specific Conditions

76. The permittee shall not exceed the emission rates set forth in the following table. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Conditions #3 and #80. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 39 – Non-Point Source Criteria Emission Limits with Unpaved Roads

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM ₁₀	159.0	74.7

77. The permittee shall not exceed the air pollutant emission rates set forth in the following table. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Conditions #3 and #80. [Regulation No. 18 §18.801 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

Table 40 – Non-Point Source Non-Criteria Emission Limits with Unpaved Roads

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM	159.0	111.5

78. The permittee will meet the following emission limits after the completion of pavement of the 5,353 linear feet of the haul road. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Conditions #3 and #80. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 41 – Criteria Emission Limits for Non-Point Sources with Paved Roads

Pollutant	lb/hr	Тру
PM_{10}	159.0	64.1

79. The permittee will meet the following emission limits after the completion of pavement of the 5,353 linear feet of the haul road. The ton per year pollutant emission rate for particulates is limited by Specific Conditions #3 and #80. [Regulation No. 19 §19.501 *et seq.* effective December 19, 2004, and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

Table 42 – Non-Criteria Emission Limits for Non-Point Sources with Paved Roads

Pollutant	lb/hr	tpy
PM	159.0	92.1

- 80. The permittee will apply chemical stabilizer or mechanically sweep the haul roads when dusty conditions are observed. [Regulation No. 19 §19.703 and A.C.A §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 an §8-4-311]
- 81. The permittee shall maintain a monthly log of the application of the chemical stabilizer or sweeping of the haul roads to demonstrate compliance with Specific Condition #80. The log shall be maintained on sited and be provided to Department personnel upon request. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]
- 82. The permittee will complete the paving prior to December 28, 2005. [A.C.A 8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]

AFIN: 31-00010

Section V: COMPLIANCE PLAN AND SCHEDULE

BPB Gypsum, Inc. will continue to operate in compliance with those identified regulatory provisions. The facility will examine and analyze future regulations that may apply and determine their applicability with any necessary action taken on a timely basis.

AFIN: 31-00010

Section VI: PLANT WIDE CONDITIONS

- 1. The permittee will notify the Director in writing within thirty (30) days after commencing construction, completing construction, first placing the equipment and/or facility in operation, and reaching the equipment and/or facility target production rate. [Regulation No. 19 §19.704, 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E, and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]
- 2. If the permittee fails to start construction within eighteen months or suspends construction for eighteen months or more, the Director may cancel all or part of this permit. [Regulation No. 19 §19.410(B) and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]
- 3. The permittee must test any equipment scheduled for testing, unless stated in the Specific Conditions of this permit or by any federally regulated requirements, within the following time frames: (1) New Equipment or newly modified equipment within sixty (60) days of achieving the maximum production rate, but no later than 180 days after initial start-up of the permitted source or (2) operating equipment according to the time frames set forth by the Department or within 180 days of permit issuance if no date is specified. The permittee must notify the Department of the scheduled date of compliance testing at least fifteen (15) days in advance of such test. The permittee will submit the compliance test results to the Department within thirty (30) days after completing the testing. [Regulation No. 19 §19.702 and/or Regulation No. 18 §18.1002 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by A.C.A. §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]
- 4. The permittee must provide: [Regulation No. 19 §19.702 and/or Regulation No. 18 §18.1002 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by A.C.A. §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]
 - a. Sampling ports adequate for applicable test methods;
 - b. Safe sampling platforms;
 - c. Safe access to sampling platforms; and
 - d. Utilities for sampling and testing equipment.
- 5. The permittee must operate the equipment, control apparatus and emission monitoring equipment within the design limitations. The permittee will maintain the equipment in good condition at all times. [Regulation No. 19 §19.303 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by A.C.A. §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]
- 6. This permit subsumes and incorporates all previously issued air permits for this facility. [Regulation No. 26 and A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]
- 7. The permittee may process a maximum of 1,800,000,000 ft² of wallboard through the facility. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]
- 8. The permittee will maintain a twelve-month rolling total of the wallboard production. The permittee will maintain the records on-site, and make the records available to Department personnel. The permittee will submit the records to the Department in

AFIN: 31-00010

accordance with General Condition #7. [Regulation No. 19 §19.705 and 40 CFR Part 52, Subpart E]

9. The permittee shall use only pipeline quality natural gas as fuel for the following units: Raymond Roller Mills #1 thru #6 (SN-38, SN-49 thru SN-53), Calcining Kettles #1 thru #6 (SN-22 thru SN-27), Claudius Peters Mill and Flash Calciner (SN-39), and Tunnel Dryers #1 and #2 (SN-44 and SN-45). [Regulation No. 19 §19.705, A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311, and 40 CFR 70.6]

Title VI Provisions

- 10. The permittee must comply with the standards for labeling of products using ozone-depleting substances. [40 CFR Part 82, Subpart E]
 - a. All containers containing a class I or class II substance stored or transported, all products containing a class I substance, and all products directly manufactured with a class I substance must bear the required warning statement if it is being introduced to interstate commerce pursuant to §82.106.
 - b. The placement of the required warning statement must comply with the requirements pursuant to §82.108.
 - c. The form of the label bearing the required warning must comply with the requirements pursuant to §82.110.
 - d. No person may modify, remove, or interfere with the required warning statement except as described in §82.112.
- 11. The permittee must comply with the standards for recycling and emissions reduction, except as provided for MVACs in Subpart B. [40 CFR Part 82, Subpart F]
 - a. Persons opening appliances for maintenance, service, repair, or disposal must comply with the required practices pursuant to §82.156.
 - b. Equipment used during the maintenance, service, repair, or disposal of appliances must comply with the standards for recycling and recovery equipment pursuant to §82.158.
 - c. Persons performing maintenance, service repair, or disposal of appliances must be certified by an approved technician certification program pursuant to §82.161.
 - d. Persons disposing of small appliances, MVACs, and MVAC-like appliances must comply with record keeping requirements pursuant to §82.166. ("MVAC-like appliance" as defined at §82.152.)
 - e. Persons owning commercial or industrial process refrigeration equipment must comply with leak repair requirements pursuant to §82.156.

AFIN: 31-00010

- f. Owners/operators of appliances normally containing 50 or more pounds of refrigerant must keep records of refrigerant purchased and added to such appliances pursuant to §82.166.
- 12. If the permittee manufactures, transforms, destroys, imports, or exports a class I or class II substance, the permittee is subject to all requirements as specified in 40 CFR Part 82, Subpart A, Production and Consumption Controls.
- 13. If the permittee performs a service on motor (fleet) vehicles when this service involves ozone-depleting substance refrigerant (or regulated substitute substance) in the motor vehicle air conditioner (MVAC), the permittee is subject to all the applicable requirements as specified in 40 CFR part 82, Subpart B, Servicing of Motor Vehicle Air Conditioners.

The term "motor vehicle" as used in Subpart B does not include a vehicle in which final assembly of the vehicle has not been completed. The term "MVAC" as used in Subpart B does not include the air-tight sealed refrigeration system used as refrigerated cargo, or the system used on passenger buses using HCFC-22 refrigerant.

14. The permittee can switch from any ozone-depleting substance to any alternative listed in the Significant New Alternatives Program (SNAP) promulgated pursuant to 40 CFR Part 82, Subpart G, "Significant New Alternatives Policy Program".

Permit Shield

- 15. Compliance with the conditions of this permit shall be deemed compliance with all applicable requirements, as of the date of permit issuance, included in and specifically identified in the following table of this condition.
 - a. The permit specifically identifies the following as applicable requirements based upon the information submitted by the permittee in an application dated .

Table 43 - Applicable Regulations

Table 43 - Applicable Regulations		
Source No.	Regulation	Description
SN-06, SN- 19, SN-40, SN-41, SN- 42 and SN- 42a	40 CFR Part 60, Subpart OOO	Standards of Performance for Nonmetallic Mineral Processing Plants
SN-22, SN- 23, SN-24 and SN-39	40 CFR Part 60, Subpart UUU	Standards of Performance for Calciners and Dryers in Mineral Industries
Facility	Arkansas Regulation 19	Compilation of Regulations of the Arkansas State implementation Plan
Facility	Arkansas Regulation 26	Regulations of the Arkansas operating Air Permit Program

AFIN: 31-00010

b. The permit specifically identifies the following as inapplicable based upon information submitted by the permittee in an application dated January 12, 2004.

Table 44 - Inapplicable Regulations

Source No.	Regulation	Description	Basis
Standards of	6		The units were constructed
Performance for	40 CED Don't 60	SN-04, SN-07, SN-	before August 31, 1983 and
Nonmetallic	40 CFR Part 60,	49, SN-50, SN-51,	have not been modified or
Mineral Processing	Subpart OOO	SN-52, SN-53	reconstructed since the
Plants			applicability date
Standards of			The units were constructed
Performance for	40 CFR Part 60,	SN-25, SN-26 and	before April 23, 1986 and have
Calciners and	Subpart UUU	SN-27	not been modified or
Dryers in Mineral	Suopart 000	S1N-27	reconstructed since the
Industries			applicability date

AFIN: 31-00010

Section VII: INSIGNIFICANT ACTIVITIES

The following sources are insignificant activities. Any activity that has a state or federal applicable requirement is a significant activity even if this activity meets the criteria of §304 of Regulation 26 or listed in the table below. Insignificant activity determinations rely upon the information submitted by the permittee in an application dated **8/1/2005**.

Table 45 - Insignificant Activities

Description	Category
Waste Oil Storage Tanks	A-3
Process Water Heater	A-1
Diesel Fuel Storage Tanks	A-13
Waste Oil Storage Tanks	A-3
Gear Oil Storage Tanks	A-3
Dryer Seal Stack	A-13
Dryer Seal Stack	A-13

Pursuant to §26.304 of Regulation 26, the Department determined the emission units, operations, or activities contained in Regulation 19, Appendix A, Group B, to be insignificant activities. Activities included in this list are allowable under this permit and need not be specifically identified.

AFIN: 31-00010

Section VIII: GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. Any terms or conditions included in this permit which specify and reference Arkansas Pollution Control & Ecology Commission Regulation No. 18 or the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (A.C.A. §8-4-101 *et seq.*) as the sole origin of and authority for the terms or conditions are not required under the Clean Air Act or any of its applicable requirements, and are not federally enforceable under the Clean Air Act. Arkansas Pollution Control & Ecology Commission Regulation 18 was adopted pursuant to the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (A.C.A. §8-4-101 *et seq.*). Any terms or conditions included in this permit which specify and reference Arkansas Pollution Control & Ecology Commission Regulation 18 or the Arkansas Water and Air Pollution Control Act (A.C.A. §8-4-101 *et seq.*) as the origin of and authority for the terms or conditions are enforceable under this Arkansas statute.[40 CFR 70.6(b)(2)]
- 2. This permit shall be valid for a period of five (5) years beginning on the date this permit becomes effective and ending five (5) years later. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(2) and §26.701(B) of the Regulations of the Arkansas Operating Air Permit Program (Regulation 26), effective September 26, 2002]
- 3. The permittee must submit a complete application for permit renewal at least six (6) months before permit expiration. Permit expiration terminates the permittee's right to operate unless the permittee submitted a complete renewal application at least six (6) months before permit expiration. If the permittee submits a complete application, the existing permit will remain in effect until the Department takes final action on the renewal application. The Department will not necessarily notify the permittee when the permit renewal application is due. [Regulation No. 26 §26.406]
- 4. Where an applicable requirement of the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. 7401, *et seq.* (Act) is more stringent than an applicable requirement of regulations promulgated under Title IV of the Act, the permit incorporates both provisions into the permit, and the Director or the Administrator can enforce both provisions. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(1)(ii) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(A)(2)]
- 5. The permittee must maintain the following records of monitoring information as required by this permit. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(3)(ii)(A) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(C)(2)]
 - a. The date, place as defined in this permit, and time of sampling or measurements;
 - b. The date(s) analyses performed;
 - c. The company or entity performing the analyses;
 - d. The analytical techniques or methods used;
 - e. The results of such analyses; and
 - f. The operating conditions existing at the time of sampling or measurement.

AFIN: 31-00010

- 6. The permittee must retain the records of all required monitoring data and support information for at least five (5) years from the date of the monitoring sample, measurement, report, or application. Support information includes all calibration and maintenance records and all original strip-chart recordings for continuous monitoring instrumentation, and copies of all reports required by this permit. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(3)(ii)(B) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(C)(2)(b)]
- 7. The permittee must submit reports of all required monitoring every six (6) months. If permit establishes no other reporting period, the reporting period shall end on the last day of the anniversary month of the initial Title V permit. The report is due within thirty (30) days of the end of the reporting period. Although the reports are due every six months, each report shall contain a full year of data. The report must clearly identify all instances of deviations from permit requirements. A responsible official as defined in Regulation No. 26 §26.2 must certify all required reports. The permittee will send the reports to the address below: [40 C.F.R. 70.6(a)(3)(iii)(A) and §26.701(C)(3)(a) of Regulation #26]

Arkansas Department of Environmental Quality Air Division ATTN: Compliance Inspector Supervisor Post Office Box 8913 Little Rock, AR 72219

- 8. The permittee will report to the Department all deviations from permit requirements, including those attributable to upset conditions as defined in the permit.
 - a. For all upset conditions (as defined in Regulation 19.601), the permittee will make an initial report to the Department by the next business day after the discovery of the occurrence. The initial report may be made by telephone and shall include:
 - i. The facility name and location,
 - ii. The process unit or emission source deviating from the permit limit,
 - iii. The permit limit, including the identification of pollutants, from which deviation occurs,
 - iv. The date and time the deviation started,
 - v. The duration of the deviation,
 - vi. The average emissions during the deviation,
 - vii. The probable cause of such deviations,
 - viii. Any corrective actions or preventive measures taken or being taken to prevent such deviations in the future, and

AFIN: 31-00010

ix. The name of the person submitting the report.

The permittee will make a full report in writing to the Department within five (5) business days of discovery of the occurrence. The report must include, in addition to the information required by the initial report, a schedule of actions taken or planned to eliminate future occurrences and/or to minimize the amount the permit's limits were exceeded and to reduce the length of time the limits were exceeded. The permittee may submit a full report in writing (by facsimile, overnight courier, or other means) by the next business day after discovery of the occurrence, and the report will serve as both the initial report and full report.

- b. For all deviations, the permittee will report such events in semi-annual reporting and annual certifications required in this permit. This includes all upset conditions reported in 8a. above. The semi-annual report must include all the information as required in the initial and full report required in 8a. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(3)(iii)(B), Regulation No. 26 §26.701(C)(3)(b), Regulation No. 19 §19.601 and §19.602]
- 9. If any provision of the permit or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidity will not affect other provisions or applications hereof which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end, provisions of this Regulation are declared to be separable and severable. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(5), §26.701(E) of Regulation No. 26, and A.C.A. §8-4-203, as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]
- 10. The permittee must comply with all conditions of this Part 70 permit. Any permit noncompliance with applicable requirements as defined in Regulation No. 26 constitutes a violation of the Clean Air Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §7401, *et seq.* and is grounds for enforcement action; for permit termination, revocation and reissuance, for permit modification; or for denial of a permit renewal application. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(6)(i) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(F)(1)]
- 11. It shall not be a defense for a permittee in an enforcement action that it would have been necessary to halt or reduce the permitted activity to maintain compliance with the conditions of this permit. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(6)(ii) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(F)(2)]
- 12. The Department may modify, revoke, reopen and reissue the permit or terminate the permit for cause. The filing of a request by the permittee for a permit modification, revocation and reissuance, termination, or of a notification of planned changes or anticipated noncompliance does not stay any permit condition. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(6)(iii) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(F)(3)]
- 13. This permit does not convey any property rights of any sort, or any exclusive privilege. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(6)(iv) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(F)(4)]
- 14. The permittee must furnish to the Director, within the time specified by the Director, any information that the Director may request in writing to determine whether cause exists

AFIN: 31-00010

for modifying, revoking and reissuing, or terminating the permit or to determine compliance with the permit. Upon request, the permittee must also furnish to the Director copies of records required by the permit. For information the permittee claims confidentiality, the Department may require the permittee to furnish such records directly to the Director along with a claim of confidentiality. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(6)(v) and Regulation No. $26 \ 26.701(F)(5)$]

- 15. The permittee must pay all permit fees in accordance with the procedures established in Regulation No. 9. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(7) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(G)]
- 16. No permit revision shall be required, under any approved economic incentives, marketable permits, emissions trading and other similar programs or processes for changes provided for elsewhere in this permit. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(8) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(H)]
- 17. If the permit allows different operating scenarios, the permittee will, contemporaneously with making a change from one operating scenario to another, record in a log at the permitted facility a record of the operational scenario. [40 CFR 70.6(a)(9)(i) and Regulation No. 26 §26.701(I)(1)]
- 18. The Administrator and citizens may enforce under the Act all terms and conditions in this permit, including any provisions designed to limit a source's potential to emit, unless the Department specifically designates terms and conditions of the permit as being federally unenforceable under the Act or under any of its applicable requirements. [40 CFR 70.6(b) and Regulation No. 26 §26.702(A) and (B)]
- 19. Any document (including reports) required by this permit must contain a certification by a responsible official as defined in Regulation No. 26 §26.2. [40 CFR 70.6(c)(1) and Regulation No. 26 §26.703(A)]
- 20. The permittee must allow an authorized representative of the Department, upon presentation of credentials, to perform the following: [40 CFR 70.6(c)(2) and Regulation No. 26 §26.703(B)]
 - c. Enter upon the permittee's premises where the permitted source is located or emissions-related activity is conducted, or where records must be kept under the conditions of this permit;
 - d. Have access to and copy, at reasonable times, any records required under the conditions of this permit;
 - e. Inspect at reasonable times any facilities, equipment (including monitoring and air pollution control equipment), practices, or operations regulated or required under this permit; and
 - f. As authorized by the Act, sample or monitor at reasonable times substances or parameters for assuring compliance with this permit or applicable requirements.

AFIN: 31-00010

- 21. The permittee will submit a compliance certification with the terms and conditions contained in the permit, including emission limitations, standards, or work practices. The permittee must submit the compliance certification annually within 30 days following the last day of the anniversary month of the initial Title V permit. The permittee must also submit the compliance certification to the Administrator as well as to the Department. All compliance certifications required by this permit must include the following: [40 CFR 70.6(c)(5) and Regulation No. 26 §26.703(E)(3)]
 - a. The identification of each term or condition of the permit that is the basis of the certification;
 - b. The compliance status;
 - c. Whether compliance was continuous or intermittent;
 - d. The method(s) used for determining the compliance status of the source, currently and over the reporting period established by the monitoring requirements of this permit; and
 - e. Such other facts as the Department may require elsewhere in this permit or by §114(a)(3) and §504(b) of the Act.
- 22. Nothing in this permit will alter or affect the following: [Regulation No. 26 §26.704(C)]
 - a. The provisions of Section 303 of the Act (emergency orders), including the authority of the Administrator under that section;
 - b. The liability of the permittee for any violation of applicable requirements prior to or at the time of permit issuance;
 - c. The applicable requirements of the acid rain program, consistent with §408(a) of the Act or,
 - d. The ability of EPA to obtain information from a source pursuant to §114 of the Act.
- 23. This permit authorizes only those pollutant-emitting activities addressed in this permit. [A.C.A. §8-4-203 as referenced by §8-4-304 and §8-4-311]